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continuation of the Respondent’s DEA certification 
is consistent with the public interest.’’ Roni Dreszer, 
M.D., 76 FR 19434, 19444 (2011). As to Factor C, 
there is no evidence in the record that Registrant 
has been convicted of any federal or state law 
offense ‘‘relating to the manufacture, distribution, 
or dispensing of controlled substances.’’ 21 U.S.C. 
823(g)(1)(C). However, as Agency cases have noted, 
‘‘the absence of such a conviction is of considerably 
less consequence in the public interest inquiry’’ and 
is therefore not dispositive. Dewey C. MacKay, M.D., 
75 FR at 49973. As to Factor E, the Government’s 
evidence fits squarely within the parameters of 
Factors B and D and does not raise ‘‘other conduct 
which may threaten the public health and safety.’’ 
21 U.S.C. 823(g)(1)(E). Accordingly, Factor E does 
not weigh for or against Registrant. 

in support of its prima facie case is 
confined to Factors B and D. OSC, at 3– 
4. Evidence is considered under Factors 
B and D when it reflects compliance or 
non-compliance with laws related to 
controlled substances and experience 
dispensing controlled substances. 
Kareem Hubbard, M.D., 87 FR 21156, 
21162 (2022). 

Here, as found above, Registrant is 
deemed to have admitted and the 
Agency finds that Registrant issued 18 
prescriptions that lacked a legitimate 
medical purpose and were issued 
outside the usual course of professional 
practice. Accordingly, the Agency finds 
substantial record evidence that 
Registrant violated 21 CFR 1306.04(a) 
and Fla. Stat. § 456.44. The Agency 
further finds that after considering the 
factors of 21 U.S.C. 823(g)(1), 
Registrant’s continued registration is 
‘‘inconsistent with the public interest.’’ 
21 U.S.C. 824(a)(4). Accordingly, the 
Government satisfied its prima facie 
burden of showing that Registrant’s 
continued registration would be 
‘‘inconsistent with the public interest.’’ 
21 U.S.C. 824(a)(4). The Agency also 
finds that there is insufficient mitigating 
evidence to rebut the Government’s 
prima facie case. Thus, the only 
remaining issue is whether, in spite of 
Registrant’s misconduct, he can be 
trusted with a registration. 

V. Sanction 
Where, as here, the Government has 

met the burden of showing that 
Registrant’s continued registration is 
inconsistent with the public interest, the 
burden shifts to Registrant to show why 
he can be entrusted with a registration. 
Morall, 412 F.3d. at 174; Jones Total 
Health Care Pharmacy, LLC v. Drug 
Enf’t Admin., 881 F.3d 823, 830 (11th 
Cir. 2018); Garrett Howard Smith, M.D., 
83 FR 18882, 18904 (2018). The issue of 
trust is necessarily a fact-dependent 
determination based on the 
circumstances presented by the 
individual registrant. Jeffrey Stein, M.D., 
84 FR 46968, 46972 (2019); see also 
Jones Total Health Care Pharmacy, 881 

F.3d at 833. Moreover, as past 
performance is the best predictor of 
future performance, the Agency requires 
that a registrant who has committed acts 
inconsistent with the public interest 
accept responsibility for those acts and 
demonstrate that he will not engage in 
future misconduct. See Jones Total 
Health Care Pharmacy, 881 F.3d at 833; 
ALRA Labs, Inc. v. Drug Enf’t Admin., 
54 F.3d 450, 452 (7th Cir. 1995). The 
Agency requires a registrant’s 
unequivocal acceptance of 
responsibility. Janet S. Pettyjohn, D.O., 
89 FR 82639, 82641 (2024); Mohammed 
Asgar, M.D., 83 FR 29569, 29573 (2018); 
see also Jones Total Health Care 
Pharmacy, 881 F.3d at 830–31. In 
addition, a registrant’s candor during 
the investigation and hearing is an 
important factor in determining 
acceptance of responsibility and the 
appropriate sanction. See Jones Total 
Health Care Pharmacy, 881 F.3d at 830– 
31; Hoxie, 419 F.3d at 483–84. Further, 
the Agency considers the egregiousness 
and extent of the misconduct as 
significant factors in determining the 
appropriate sanction. See Jones Total 
Health Care Pharmacy, 881 F.3d at 834 
& n.4. The Agency also considers the 
need to deter similar acts by a Registrant 
and by the community of registrants. 
Jeffrey Stein, M.D., 84 FR at 46972–73. 

Here, Registrant did not timely 
request a hearing, or timely or properly 
answer the allegations, and was 
therefore deemed to be in default. 21 
CFR 1301.43(c)(1), (e), (f)(1); RFAA, at 1. 
To date, Registrant has not filed a 
motion with the Office of the 
Administrator to excuse the default. 21 
CFR 1301.43(c)(1). Registrant has thus 
failed to answer the allegations 
contained in the OSC and has not 
otherwise availed himself of the 
opportunity to refute the Government’s 
case. As such, Registrant has not 
accepted responsibility for the proven 
violations, has made no representations 
regarding his future compliance with 
the CSA, and has not demonstrated that 
he can be trusted with registration. 
Accordingly, the Agency will order the 
revocation of Registrant’s registration. 

Order 
Pursuant to 28 CFR 0.100(b) and the 

authority vested in me by 21 U.S.C. 
824(a) and 21 U.S.C. 823(g)(1), I hereby 
revoke DEA Certificate of Registration 
No. BD9971208 issued to Taha Dias, 
M.D. Further, pursuant to 28 CFR 
0.100(b) and the authority vested in me 
by 21 U.S.C. 823(g)(1), I hereby deny 
any pending applications of Taha Dias, 
M.D. to renew or modify this 
registration, as well as any other 
pending application of Taha Dias, M.D. 

for registration in Florida. This Order is 
effective August 25, 2025. 

Signing Authority 
This document of the Drug 

Enforcement Administration was signed 
on July 21, 2025, by Acting 
Administrator Robert J. Murphy. That 
document with the original signature 
and date is maintained by DEA. For 
administrative purposes only, and in 
compliance with requirements of the 
Office of the Federal Register, the 
undersigned DEA Federal Register 
Liaison Officer has been authorized to 
sign and submit the document in 
electronic format for publication, as an 
official document of DEA. This 
administrative process in no way alters 
the legal effect of this document upon 
publication in the Federal Register. 

Heather Achbach, 
Federal Register Liaison Officer, Drug 
Enforcement Administration. 
[FR Doc. 2025–14077 Filed 7–24–25; 8:45 am] 

BILLING CODE 4410–09–P 

DEPARTMENT OF JUSTICE 

[OMB Number 1117–0NEW] 

Agency Information Collection 
Activities; Proposed eCollection 
eComments Requested; New 
collection; Title—User Access Request 
Form for EPIC System Portal (ESP) 

AGENCY: Drug Enforcement 
Administration, Department of Justice. 
ACTION: 60-Day notice. 

SUMMARY: The Drug Enforcement 
Administration, Department of Justice 
(DOJ), will be submitting the following 
information collection request to the 
Office of Management and Budget 
(OMB) for review and approval in 
accordance with the Paperwork 
Reduction Act of 1995. 
DATES: Comments are encouraged and 
will be accepted for 60 days until 
September 23, 2025. 
FOR FURTHER INFORMATION CONTACT: If 
you have additional comments 
especially on the estimated public 
burden or associated response time, 
suggestions, or need a copy of the 
proposed information collection 
instrument with instructions or 
additional information, please contact 
Benjamin Inks, Writer/Editor, Office of 
Compliance, Policy Administration 
Section 700 Army Navy Drive Arlington 
VA 22202, telephone: 571–672–4524, 
email: Benjamin.B.Inks@dea.gov. 
SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION: Written 
comments and suggestions from the 
public and affected agencies concerning 
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the proposed collection of information 
are encouraged. Your comments should 
address one or more of the following 
four points: 
—Evaluate whether the proposed 

collection of information is necessary 
for the proper performance of the 
functions of the Bureau of Justice 
Statistics, including whether the 
information will have practical utility; 

—Evaluate the accuracy of the agency’s 
estimate of the burden of the 
proposed collection of information, 
including the validity of the 
methodology and assumptions used; 

—Evaluate whether and if so how the 
quality, utility, and clarity of the 
information to be collected can be 
enhanced; and 

—Minimize the burden of the collection 
of information on those who are to 
respond, including through the use of 
appropriate automated, electronic, 
mechanical, or other technological 

collection techniques or other forms 
of information technology, e.g., 
permitting electronic submission of 
responses. 
Abstract: The purpose of the User 

Access Request Form is to collect 
information to process new requests to 
access the Drug Enforcement 
Administration’s El Paso Intelligence 
Center (EPIC) System Portal (ESP). The 
ESP enables authorized law 
enforcement personnel to access law 
enforcement sensitive information 
related to drug and human trafficking, 
firearms smuggling, money laundering, 
and other offenses. The collected 
information ensures proper vetting, 
security, and compliance with federal 
law enforcement policies. 

Overview of This Information 
Collection 

1. Type of Information Collection: 
New collection. 

2. The Title of the Form/Collection: 
User Access Request Form for the EPIC 
System Portal. 

3. Form Number: To be assigned upon 
approval by the OMB. The sponsoring 
component is the Drug Enforcement 
Administration. 

4. The affected public includes 
federal, state, local, and tribal law 
enforcement personnel seeking access to 
the ESP. The obligation to respond is 
required to obtain access to the system. 

5. The estimated number of 
respondents for this form is 1,000. The 
time per response is 7 minutes. 

6. An estimate of the total annual 
burden (in hours) associated with the 
collection: The total estimated annual 
burden hours for this collection is 1,000 
hours. 

7. An estimate of the total annual cost 
burden associated with the collection, if 
applicable: $4,666.80. 

Total Burden Hours 

Activity Number of 
respondents Frequency Total annual 

responses 

Time per 
response 

(min.) 

Total annual 
burden 
(hours) 

User Access Request Form ............................................................. 1,000 1 1,000 7 116.67 

Unduplicated Totals .................................................................. 1,000 1 1,000 7 116.67 

If additional information is required 
contact: Darwin Arceo, Department 
Clearance Officer, United States 
Department of Justice, Justice 
Management Division, Policy and 
Planning Staff, Two Constitution 
Square, 145 N Street NE, 4W–218, 
Washington, DC. 

Dated: July 23, 2025. 
Darwin Arceo, 
Department Clearance Officer for PRA, U.S. 
Department of Justice. 
[FR Doc. 2025–14045 Filed 7–24–25; 8:45 am] 
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Agency Information Collection 
Activities; Proposed eCollection 
eComments Requested; Revision of a 
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Provide Notice as to the Availability of 
Closed Movie Captioning and Audio 
Description for Digital Movies 

AGENCY: Civil Rights Division, 
Department of Justice. 

ACTION: 60-Day notice. 

SUMMARY: The Civil Rights Division, 
Disability Rights Section (DRS) 
Department of Justice will be submitting 
the following information collection 
request to the Office of Management and 
Budget (OMB) for review and approval 
in accordance with the Paperwork 
Reduction Act of 1995. 
DATES: Comments are encouraged and 
will be accepted for 60 days until 
September 23, 2025. 
FOR FURTHER INFORMATION CONTACT: If 
you have additional comments 
especially on the estimated public 
burden or associated response time, 
suggestions, or need a copy of the 
proposed information collection 
instrument with instructions or 
additional information, please contact: 
Roberta Kirkendall, Special Litigation 
Counsel, Disability Rights Section, Civil 
Rights Division, U.S. Department of 
Justice, by mail at 4CON, 950 
Pennsylvania Ave. NW, Washington, 
DC, 20530; send an email to DRS.PRA@
usdoj.gov; or call (800) 514–0301 (voice) 
or (800) 514–0383 (TTY) (the Division’s 
Information Line). Written comments 
and/or suggestions can also be sent to 
the Office of Management and Budget, 
Office of Information and Regulatory 
Affairs, Attention Department of Justice 
Desk Officer, Washington, DC 20503 or 

sent to OIRA_submissions@
omb.eop.gov. Include the title of this 
proposed collection: ‘‘Requirement that 
Movie Theaters Provide Notice as to the 
Availability of Closed Movie Captioning 
and Audio Description for Digital 
Movies,’’ in the subject line of all 
written comments. You may obtain 
copies of this notice in an alternative 
format by calling the Americans with 
Disabilities Act (ADA) Information Line 
at (800) 514–0301 (voice) or (800) 514– 
0383 (TTY). 
SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION: Written 
comments and suggestions from the 
public and affected agencies concerning 
the proposed collection of information 
are encouraged. Your comments should 
address one or more of the following 
four points: 
—Evaluate whether the proposed 

collection of information is necessary 
for the proper performance of the 
functions of the Bureau of Justice 
Statistics, including whether the 
information will have practical utility; 

—Evaluate the accuracy of the agency’s 
estimate of the burden of the 
proposed collection of information, 
including the validity of the 
methodology and assumptions used; 

—Evaluate whether and if so how the 
quality, utility, and clarity of the 
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